Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

# Aptamer based nanobiosensors: Promising healthcare devices

Aamir Hanif<sup>a</sup>, Rabia Farooq<sup>b,\*</sup>, Muneeb U. Rehman<sup>b</sup>, Rehan Khan<sup>c</sup>, Sabhiya Majid<sup>b</sup>, Majid Ahmad Ganaie<sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> City University of Hong Kong, Tat Chee Avenue, Kowloon, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

<sup>b</sup> Department of Biochemistry, Govt Medical College (GMC) Srinagar, J&K 190010, India

<sup>c</sup> Nanotherapeutics, Institute of Nanoscience & Technology (DST-INST), Habitat Centre Phase 10, Mohali, Punjab, India

<sup>d</sup> Department of Pharmacology, College of Pharmacy, Prince Sattam Bin Abdulaziz University, Al-Kharj 11942, Saudi Arabia

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 September 2018 Accepted 22 November 2018 Available online 24 November 2018

Keywords: Nanobiosenors Aptasensors Electrochemical Electrochemiluminescent Photoelectrochemical Nanomaterial

# ABSTRACT

Nanobiosensors based on aptamer are extensively being studied as potent analytical tools in clinical analysis. These biosensors provide high sensitivity, fast response, specificity and desired portability in addition to simplicity and decreased cost compared to conventional methods. The purpose of this manuscript is to provide readers with an overview of current advances about electrochemical, electrochemiluminescent and photoelectrochemical aptasensors from the sea of available literature. These are mainly used for determination of protein-based biomarkers, especially for cancer diagnosis. Here in we have given special emphasis on nanosize-based aptasensors which have been reported to show considerable improvement in the analytical performance.

© 2018 Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

Review

1.	Introduction		. 312
2.	Aptamers as biosensors		. 313
	2.1.	Electrochemical aptasensors	. 313
	2.2.	Optical aptasensors	. 314
	2.3.	Fiber-optic biosensors (FOBS)	. 315
	2.4.	Fluorescently labeled aptamers or signaling aptamers	. 315
	2.5.	Quantum dots (QDs)	. 315
	2.6.	Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET)	. 315
	2.7.	Field-effect transistor (FET)	. 316
	2.8.	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) with aptamers	. 316
	2.9.	Electrochemiluminescence or electrogenerated chemiluminescence (ECL)	. 316
	2.10.	Photoelectrochemical aptasensors (PEC)	. 317
3.	Comparison with conventional biosensors		. 317
4.	Concl	Conclusion and future prospectus	
	Confli	cts of interest	. 317
References		ences	. 317

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Biochemistry, Govt Medical College Srinagar, India. *E-mail address:* Rabiajan4uuu@gmail.com (R. Farooq).

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



Production and hosting by Elsevier

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2018.11.013

1319-0164/© 2018 Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).





# 1. Introduction

The DNA/RNA oligonucleotides which possess high affinity towards certain molecules are called aptamers. Aptamers, discovered in 1990, is derived from a Latin word 'aptus' meaning to fit (Cooper, 2002; Jayasena, 1999; Yeom et al., 2011). These nucleotides can be DNA, RNA or even small peptide molecules. After the discovery of DNA aptamer (Ellington and Szostak, 1992), in both scientific and industrial research, the aptamer technology has received attention. DNA-based aptasensors have promising potential for clinical applications due to their various important characteristics including high affinity towards target molecules, high specificity, secondary shape change upon target binding and high detection sensitivity. Moreover, these aptasensors have flexibility due to their small size besides ease in designing their special structure (Keefe et al., 2010). These target molecules for these aptasensors include proteins, amino drugs, toxins and other small molecules (O'Sullivan, 2002). Aptamers dissociation constants (Kd) range from picomolar (pM) to nanomolar (nM) concentration after binding to their targets (Jenison et al., 1994). Modification of aptamers via chemical or enzymatic synthesis causes incorporation of reporters or linkers into them. Aptamers are attached to ribozymes (catalyst RNA molecules) which are self-cleaving RNA molecules when target molecules are present. They show high reproducibility and purity. The extensive range of targets and combinations with different materials available for aptamers makes them fit to be used as innovative bioassay tools in the fields of diagnostics, anti-bioterrorism, and environmental and food analysis (Tombelli et al., 2007).

Aptamers are short DNA/RNA oligonucleotide sequences which attain distinct 3-dimensional conformations which are able to identify and interact with a wide array of complementary sequences of target molecules. Aptamers mimic antibodies but show advantages over them. They are chemically stable under a wide range of buffer conditions, show reversibility after thermal denaturation, retains bioactivity in harsh conditions, high specificity and high affinity towards various targets such as enzymes



Fig. 1. SELEX method used for the isolation of aptamers. (Source: Zhang et al., 2015).

and several types of proteins eg, immunoglobulins, cytokines, proteins of membranes, viral membrane proteins, growth factors, drugs, metal ions, small molecules and intact cells (Keefe et al., 2010). Newly discovered nanomaterials in combination with aptamers have enhanced the performance of aptamer-based biosensors. Aptamer-based biosensors have huge potential to be used for diagnosis of various disease (Du et al., 2011; Ma et al., 2011). The nucleotides whether RNA or DNA aptamers are selected invitro by Systematic Evolution of Ligands by Exponential enrichment (SELEX process) from immense populations of random sequences for which the basic knowledge of aptamer biochemistry and other requirements are important.

#### 2. Aptamers as biosensors

Aptamers are known as biological recognition elements and can be used as biosensors due to their important characteristics like small size, high specificity, high affinity, high sensitivity, and efficient immobilization. Aptasensors are aptamer-based biosensors and the first optical biosensor was discovered in 1996 which uses fluorescently labeled aptamers (Davis et al., 1996) Aptamer-based biosensors are designed and developed to detect different targets such as adenosine, thrombin, ATP, cocaine, thrombin, VEGF, IgE, etc (Du et al., 2011; Ma et al., 2011; Tombelli et al., 2007). Biosensors are mainly used for precise and fast detection for pathogens, various biomarkers for diseases, pollutant (Yeom et al., 2011; Zelada-Guillén et al., 2009). Aptamers were used as an anticoagulant agent due to their high specificity, affinity, and bioavailability (Kuliczkowski et al., 2010). Due to the presence of RNases in cell, RNA aptamers were designed using amino or fluoro groups or RNA inhibitors (Biesecker et al., 1999; Jellinek et al., 1995; Liu et al., 2011; Ruckman et al., 1998). The aptamer-protein binding occurs by electrostatic, stacking interactions, or complementary shape hydrogen bonding. Sandwich biosensor based on glucose dehydrogenase-labeled signaling was first electrochemical aptasensor that was discovered in 2004 (Ikebukuro et al., 2004). Due to more binding sites for target proteins, in sandwich- assay based biosensors, one aptamer is attached to sensor which binds via epitope to target protein and second one which binds to different epitope of target protein is labeled one, which brings the reporter and sensor closer to readout a positive signal (Ikebukuro et al., 2005).

Nucleic acid aptamers can be synthesized by *in-vitro* selection or SELEX method as shown in Fig. 1. This method helps to identify and select aptamers which possess high binding affinity towards their target molecules (Huang et al., 2009). Aptamer-based biosensors have been classified into different categories discussed below.

#### 2.1. Electrochemical aptasensors

These types of biosensors use electrochemical transduction and include various methods e.g faradic impedance spectroscopy (FIS), potentiometry, differential pulse voltammetry (DPV), alternating current voltammetry (ACV), square wave voltammetry (SWV). Upon binding of target to aptamers, either positive or negative readout signal is detected (Sharon et al., 2009). The simultaneous monitoring of the signal due to ligand-analyte interactions done by an electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (Xu et al., 2005) was first used for the immunoglobulin-E (IgE) recognition, where the sensors compare DNA based aptamer with antihuman IgE antibody, and reduce background noise as well as non specific adsorption (Wang et al., 2011) Another example of electrochemical aptasensors is for thrombin detection which has application in prevention of thrombosis.

A nanometer gap-sized impedance biosensor was used in which RNA aptamer was compared with an antibody for thrombin detection (Schlecht et al., 2006). The real time reading of five sensor elements in its multiplexer-approach was enabled so the detection of different targets by immobilizing their specific ligands on separate electrodes. Reference sensors are used for the removal of background noise (Schlecht et al., 2006). Complementary DNA (cDNA) aptamer oligonucleotides were used as probes for electrochemical sensing in electrochemical aptasensors technique. In this method, the labeled cDNA is synthesized and made to hybridize to their specific aptamers to form double-stranded DNA (ds-DNA) which self-assemble ds-labeled DNA onto electrodes. Aptamers on binding to the target confine to the surface of electrode which separates itself from their complementary cDNA oligonucleotides into the solution and in addition the single-stranded cDNA forms a hairpin structure. This change in conformation causes alteration in voltammetric signal of the redox moiety on labelled cDNA. Based on this technique, many electrochemical aptasensors are designed which uses ferrocene gold electrodes as redox moeities like that of Adenosine Triphosphate and thrombin-binding aptamers. Yet another application of these aptamers is in lysozyme detection. Lysozyme is an antimicrobial enzyme produced by the cells as an innate immune response (Ragland and Criss, 2017). This enzyme works by lysing the peptidoglycan cell wall of especially gram positive bacteria (Cunningham et al., 1991). The detection of levels of lysozyme form an important diagnostic technique for bronchopulmonary dysplasia (Revenis and Kaliner, 1992). Besides other applications include in formulation of lysozyme rich growth promoting feeds for some animal species including swine (Oliver and Wells, 2015) For lysozyme detection, DNA aptamer was immobilized on gold surfaces via [Ru(NH3)6]<sup>3+</sup> which uses electrostatic interactions for binding to the aptamer. Upon binding to lysozyme, release of [Ru(NH3)<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3+</sup> cations occurs which leads to decrease in the integrated charge of the reduction peak (Cheng et al., 2007). Thence, measurement of [Ru(NH3)<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3+</sup> reduction peak height gives the surface density of aptamers in cyclic voltammogram.

In an electrochemical aptasensors, aptamers both sides can be labeled. Upon protein binding, change in shape occurs which leads to either a smaller or larger distance of the reporter from the electrode thus causes an increase or decrease in an electron transfer (Mir and Katakis, 2007; Xiao et al., 2005). In this method, intercalators like methylene blue (MB) are used as reporters, which combines with the ds DNA aptamer. As upon target binding various conformational changes occurs and intercalator is released thus producing a negative response (Xiao et al., 2005)For endotoxin lipopolysaccharide detection, an electrochemical gold nanoparticle based aptasensor was reported by Kim et al. (2012), which possesses high sensitivity along with a detection range of 0.01–1 ng/ml. While maintaining a comparable detection with traditional limulus amoebocyte lysate this gold nanoparticle based aptasensor had advantages of lower detection time, negligible cross binding reactivity to various biomolecules viz pDNA, RNA, proteins and saccharides which are also found along with endotoxin LSL in liquor bioprocessing. For the detection of tetracyclines, a RNA based aptamer (cb28) was screened which shows resemblance with the small ribosomal subunit (Berens et al., 2001) Recently ss DNA aptasensor with high specificity was developed for tetracycline detection (Kim et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2010) In 2010, glassy carbon electrodes were used as electrochemical aptasensor for tetracycline detection, which was having high sensitivity (in ngs) so was able to detect tetracycline in milk  $(\sim 1 \text{ ng/ml})$  and is used specifically for chloramphenicol detection (Pilehvar et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2010). Aptamer based tetracycline detection is advantages of being fast inexpensive highly specific and precise than most of the other methods (Zhang et al., 2010). Various methods and techniques for mobilization and labeling for the construction of electrochemical aptasensors are being used. One of them is shown in Fig. 2.

### 2.2. Optical aptasensors

Optical aptasensors exploit optical phenomenon of fluorescence, colorimetry, chemiluminescence, surface plasmon resonance (SPR), surface-enhanced raman scattering, methods for transduction (Feng et al., 2014). The modification of optical parameters like alteration in the refractive index upon binding to the targets can be detected and quantified without use of any labeled molecules. In SPR biosensor detection method, surface plasmons are produced on a high refractive index gold layer which is immobilized on a glass surface. As the aptamer and target combines together, alteration of the refractive index of the gold layer and SPR angle occurs which can be used for measurement of various biological interactions with aptamers with good sensitivity of nanomolar (nM) range and a range of linear detection from 8.4 to 84 nM like SPR sensing and fixed-angle imaging method (Pollet et al., 2009; Polonschii et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011; Xia et al., 2010). The usual colorimetric methods, have lower sensitivity in millimolar [mM] to micromolar [µM] range (Liu and Lu, 2006; Wang et al., 2011; Xia et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2011b) Other techniques which includes quartz crystal microbalance (QCM), acoustic wave, micro-cantilever have also been reported (Gronewold et al., 2009; Savran et al., 2004).



Fig. 2. Representative diagram of aptamer-analyte-labeled aptamer sandwich for electrochemical aptasensor construction.

#### 2.3. Fiber-optic biosensors (FOBS)

These are special class of optical biosensors in which aptamers or enzymes are deposited on the surface of optical-fibers to measure biological molecules. For measurement of biological molecules, optical field is used in this method. Tapered fiber-optic biosensors (TFOBS) possess a special shape to depict the momentary field to bind with the samples. Alteration in refractive index, absorption, fluorescence, SPR are among various methods used in TFOBS to increase the specificity and sensitivity. A detailed account working principle and mechanism of this category of biosensors is beyond the scope of this review as it focusses majorly on the application area. The FOBS have a variety of applications including detection of pathogens, environmental pollutants medical and detection of DNA hybridization. Zibaii et al reported the use of simple tapered fiber optic biosensor for measuring real time growth of bacteria Escherichia coli (E. coli) in water (Zibaii et al., 2010). Monitoring of halogenated compounds commonly found as trace pollutants in environment has been reported using purified haloalkane dehalogenase LinB and the fluorescent pH indicator CF immobilized on the optical fiber with a poly(methyl methacrylate) core (Bidmanova et al., 2010). The FOB showed a detection limit of 0.014 mM and range of 0-0.8 mM detection for 3-chloro-2-(chloro methyl)-1-propene (Bidmanova et al., 2010). A high selectivity and sensitivity FOB was reported by Kudo et al for monitoring gaseous ethanol (Kudo et al., 2010). The bio-sniffer used alcohol dehydrogenase to detect the ethanol in the range of 0.3-300 ppm ethanol. Due to specific enzyme activity of alcohol dehydrogenase high selectivity towards ethanol was observed which highlights the potential of this biosensor in breath analyzers. More recently a lot of fiber optic biosensors have been reported for a varied sensing applications such as detection of thrombin (Albert et al., 2013) bisphenol A (Long et al., 2014) acetone (Renganathan and Ganesan, 2015; Ye et al., 2015) proteins on surface of E. coli (Brzozowska et al., 2015) tumor marker prostate specific antigens (Jeong et al., 2013), Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever (CCHF) IgG antibodies (Algaar et al., 2015) and other clinically significant triacylglyceraldehydes (Baliyan et al., 2013).

# 2.4. Fluorescently labeled aptamers or signaling aptamers

Aptamers linked with fluorescent probes are fluorescently labeled aptamers. These are sensitive and inexpensive. Aptabeacons are used to for this purpose to form fluorescently labeled aptamers (Yamamoto and Kumar, 2000). Aptamer (DNA/RNA) sequence is placed in a molecular beacon, labeled with fluorophore and a quencher. As the target interacts with an aptamer, it separates fluorophore and a quencher which will lead to emit fluorescent signals (Fig. 3). In yet other method, aptamer is linked with



Fig. 3. Fluorescently labeled aptamers in which fluorophore and Quencher comes close as the target binds.

a fluorophore with cDNA sequence and labeled quencher. As target binds, dissociation of the corresponding strand from the aptamer occurs, results in an amplification in intensity of fluorescence (Nutiu and Li, 2004, 2003)This technique is used in various important techniques like from cell-based research to regenerative medicine (Terazono et al., 2010).

#### 2.5. Quantum dots (QDs)

The Quantum dots is an improvised form of fluorescentlylabeled aptamers (Choi et al., 2006; Levy et al., 2005) which is used for drug delivery detection in cells (Bagalkot et al., 2007). This shows sensitivity in nanomolar (nM). ATP and cocaine limits of detection were of 30 nM and 50 nM range using QDs (Zhang et al., 2011a). For this, GBI-10 (ss DNA) aptamer to the QD surface for tenascin-C on the surface of glioma cells was used to form OD-Aptamer nanoprobe and is helpful for the development of *in-vitro* diagnostic assays for glioma as this conjugate possess features like increased fluorescence, stability, homogeneity and monodispersity (Wu et al., 2011a,b). QD based aptamers were used to detect changes in potassium ions(K<sup>+</sup>) by the fluorescence intensity of the molecular beacon. Dissociation constant(Kd's) of the aptamer probes against K<sup>+</sup> are also obtained (Ikanovic et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2011a,b). For Prostate specific membrane antigen (PSMA) detection, Quantum dot-A10 RNA aptamer (QD-Apt) is used in combination with drug anticancer Doxorubicin (Dox) for optical imaging of the delivery of Dox against PSMA-specific agent. QDs with carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are used to identify spores of Bacillus thuringiensis (Ikanovic et al., 2007) and the sensitivity was 103 CFU/ml. QD's were also used to differentiate Bacillus thuringiensis from Bacillus Globigiiat concentrations when higher than 105 CFU/ml.

# 2.6. Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET)

This technique exploits relocation of energy between two fluorescent molecules – donor and acceptor. One side of aptamer is linked to a fluorophore and other by a quencher which is used to quench its signal through FRET. Graphene is commonly used as a quencher as it is an energy acceptor. Graphene oxide is known to have strong non covalent adsorptive interactions with nucleic acid bases and nucleosides (Lu et al., 2009; Varghese et al., 2009). As aptamer and target interacts, the intensity in the fluorescence signal changes which can be used for recognition and measurement of the concentration of the target. However, FRET probes has limitation as it shows a lot of background noise so directly target analyzing is difficult (Bagalkot et al., 2007).

For detection of trace metal bisphenol A (BPA), the lanthanidedoped K GdF4 nanoparticles (KGdF4:Tb<sup>3+</sup> NPs) were tailored in such a way that an aptamer recognizes BPA, and gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) with cDNA of the aptamer. Binding of BPA with aptamer forms KGdF4:Tb<sup>3+</sup> NP–aptamer–BPA complexes, FRET is disrupted, and the fluorescence is restored and the change in intensity is equivalent to the concentration of BPA, with sensitivity even less than 0.16 ng ml<sup>-1</sup> (Duan et al., 2016).

For detection of thrombin via FRET technique, aptamers with two distinct epitopes labeled with a different fluorophore were used which were linked via alkyl linkers (Heyduk and Heyduk, 2005). Thrombin links two aptamers in close proximity for FRET. The fluorescence signal was initially quenched by graphene but the signal increases upon thrombin binding. This helps the detection of thrombin in pM range as well as good specificity in serum (Chang et al., 2010). For adenosine detection, aptamers at 5' end were immobilized on a magnetic microparticle and modified with fluorescein while as it's 3' end is attached to a quencher. When adenosine binds, it causes spatial change of the aptamer so leads to the displacement of quencher and recovery of the fluorescence signal. The FRET technology has also been used for the detection of low levels  $17\beta$ -estradiol (E2) in water samples (Yildirim et al., 2012).

# 2.7. Field-effect transistor (FET)

This technique exploits the electrical properties of an aptamer when binds with a target and this helps in the detection of target in femtomolar(fM) range. An aptamer is make to attached to surface, its one end is attached with carbon nanotube and a gate voltage is applied between aptamer and nanotubes. As the target binds and aptamer interacts, the electrical properties due to charge transfer to the nanotube between the source and electrode occurs. A study by Rahim Ruslinda et al. (2013) observed the properties of charge density on the surface of HIV-1 tat protein using RNA aptamers on a diamond FET. Combination of target molecule and aptamer leads to gate potential change of 91.6 mV (Rahim Ruslinda et al., 2013). For detection of lead, graphene based FET aptasensor was developed, with high selectivity and specificity than metal cations like Sodium (Na<sup>+)</sup>, Potassium (K<sup>+)</sup>, Magnesium (Mg<sup>2+)</sup>, and Calcium (Ca<sup>2+)</sup>, so can be used in a complex sample matrix (Wang et al., 2016). A single walled carbon nanotube FET (SWCNTFET) arrays aptasensors were customized to detect E. coli DH5 $\alpha$  and E2 (Zheng et al., 2015). As the E-Coli cells and aptamer binds, change in conductance is observed in FET aptasensors. These FET based aptamers shows high specificity and specificity assays were conducted with Salmonella typhimurium. For the detection of Bacillus anthracis- a gram positive bacteria, a causative agent of Anthrax, an single stranded DNA based aptamer linked to SWCNFET, with sensitivity ( $\sim 1 \text{ nM}$ ) has been developed by Cella et al. (2010). Due to high sensitivity of FET biosensors, ATP detection has also been done where these aptasensors showed an increase in the drain current with ATP addition (Mukherjee et al., 2015). Similarly, for Interferon –gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) detection, graphene is attached to IFN- $\gamma$  aptamer and is integrated on a Polydimethyl-siloxane (PDMS) substrate. As IFN-  $\gamma$  is added, change in current occurs due to alteration in charge distribution with detection limit of 83 Pm. For the adsorption of aptamer on graphene surface unique structural approach by Atomic Force Microscopy technique was exploited (Farid et al., 2015).

# 2.8. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) with aptamers

It works on the principle of sandwich based ELISA, but has higher sensitivity due to the more binding sites of aptamerconjugated nanoparticles (Fig. 4). It uses green fluorescent ferritin nanoparticles which were bound to platelet-derived growth factor B-chain (PDGF-BB) homodimer (Kim et al., 2011). This aptamer-ELISA detects PDGF-BB as low as 100 fM. The uses of aptamers in ELISA are called as enzyme-linked apta-sorbent assay (ELASA) (Toh et al., 2015) Lipocalin-2 (LCN2), is a molecular biomarker of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) with sensitivity of 2.5-500 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> and a detection limit of 0.6 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> was detected by using this technique (ELASA) (Lee et al., 2015). To detect MPT64 protein among early stage tuberculosis patients in both sputum smear positive and sputum smear negative patients, MPT64 antibody aptamer were developed with the help of SELEX and then ELASA technique was used (Zhu et al., 2012). A competitive enzyme-linked aptamer assay (ELAA) was used to diagnose tetracycline in milk. It shows better sensitivity and specificity. This technique uses two different aptamers, DNA and RNA (Jeong and Rhee Paeng, 2012).

# 2.9. Electrochemiluminescence or electrogenerated chemiluminescence (ECL)

Electrogenerated chemiluminescence (ECL) exploits the principles of electrochemistry i.e. during transitions of electrons from higher excited level to a lower energy level state, dissipation of radiations occur in the form of as photons in the UV, visible, and close infrared (IR) region. The light emission in a reaction occurs in different ways like the intensity of light is proportional to the quantity i.e. concentration of the reactants (Bard, 1988) chemiluminescence, photoluminescence, electrogenerated luminescence and bioluminescence. The aptasensors based on ECL was thrombin and was first reported in 1992 (Bock et al., 1992). DNA aptamer with thrombin leads to a stable intramolecular G-quadruplex



Fig. 4. (a) Direct "aptamer ELISA" or "ELASA" (Source: Base Pair Biotechnologies, Inc.). (b) Sandwich ELASA (Source: Aptamer Sciences, Inc.).

structure formation (Xiao et al., 2005) DNA thrombin binding aptamer binds with higher affinity to heparin-binding site of thrombin affinity. Aptamers do not interfere with other binding sites they interact with two different binding sites of thrombin, giving them high advantages in development of biosensors. The aptamers for thrombin are treated as important bioreceptors (Mascini et al., 2012). ECL-AB biosensors have been used for the detection of cocaine and ruthenium complex. For the detection of cocaine, ECL aptamers are used in which when cocaine bids to an aptamer, an ECL signal increases as change in conformation took place from random coil to three-way junction structure, in close proximity to the sensor interface. With the change in ECL signal intensity, the concentration of cocaine was found. These types of aptasensors were also used for the detection of platelet-derived growth factor B chain (PDGF-BB) assay with an aptamer N-(aminobutyl)-Nethylisoluminol functionalized gold nanoparticles (ABEI-AuNPs) as nanoprobes.

### 2.10. Photoelectrochemical aptasensors (PEC)

PEC exploits the principle of photochemistry which uses photoactive material (organic, inorganic or hybrid semiconductors), using light as a source of excitation and then the production of photocurrent. Excitation source causes excitation of molecule that reacts with an electron acceptor or donor molecule, producing either anodic or cathodic photocurrents, respectively. Inorganic semiconductors are modified by using manifold nanomaterials like stannic oxide (SnO<sub>2</sub>), titanium Oxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>), NPs as well as cadmium sulfide (CdS) and cadmium selenide (CdSe). ODs to make them conductive. Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) are highly used in combination with semiconductors like AuNPs/TiO<sub>2</sub> hybrid materials, graphene/CdSe, and porphyrin/fullerene/AuNPs (Zhao et al., 2014). A photoelectrochemical aptasensor based on graphene and cadmium selenide nanoparticles has been reported as a highly sensitive biosensor for detection of thrombin. The normal detection range for this aptasensor was in between  $10^{-12}$  and  $10^{-10}$  M with the ultimate limit of the order of  $10^{-13}$  M (Zhang et al., 2011b). Another PEC based aptasensor based on nitrogen doped graphene quantum dots has been reported for chloramphenicol detection which is a potential carcinogenic agent. This PEC showed high sensitivity than HPLC, electrophoresis, chemiluminescent and electrochemical sensors (Liu et al., 2015).

PEC shows many advantages over ECL detection i.e., less cost, simple, compact instrumentation, high sensitivity due to reduced background noise associated with it (Liu et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2011b; Zhao et al., 2014).

#### 3. Comparison with conventional biosensors

Aptamers have some distinctive advantages, over traditional monoclonal antibodies used in biosensors. The aptamers can be isolated and have a wide choice of target molecules from simple small molecules to whole microorganisms (Feng et al., 2014; Ikebukuro et al., 2004; Kudo et al., 2010; Ye et al., 2015; Zibaii et al., 2010). Other advantages include enhanced pH and temperature stability, high target affinity and specificity besides comparable ease of synthetic mass production (Goldman et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2012). Given to these advantages the application scope of the aptasensors is very broad encompassing environmental monitoring, food analysis, medical diagnosis etc. Despite several advantages aptasensors have their own pitfalls which include limited detection of small molecules, problematic multiple analyte detection, cross reactivity among some molecules leading to faux results and cumbersome immobilization procedures leading to loss of precision (Arugula and Simonian, 2014).

#### 4. Conclusion and future prospectus

In the past decade, there has been a dramatic increase in research for aptamers due to their various advantages in biosensor field. Nonmaterials used in the development of aptamer-based biosensors have greatly helped in the discovery of important and versatile diagnostic devices. Owing to their small size, portability, easy to use, cost efficiency, non toxicity and disposability. These aptamer based biosensors more interesting for application in clinical analysis. In this review article, the types of aptasensors, their applications in the field of mainly in the field of medical diagnosis a nanomedicine and biotechnology have been reviewed. Aptamers are manufactured in large number and modification by the use of different materials makes them versatile compounds to be used in variety of clinical applications. With the continued progress in the field of aptasensors instrumentation of biosensors is becoming cost effective, easy to operate and fast. But there are still many challenges as discussed in the review which remain to be addressed leading to widespread applicability along with better precision.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Albert, J., Lepinay, S., Caucheteur, C., Derosa, M.C., 2013. High resolution gratingassisted surface plasmon resonance fiber optic aptasensor. Methods 63, 239– 254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2013.07.007.
- Algaar, F., Eltzov, E., Vdovenko, M.M., Sakharov, I.Y., Fajs, L., Weidmann, M., Mirazimi, A., Marks, R.S., 2015. Fiber-optic immunosensor for detection of crimean-congo hemorrhagic fever IgG antibodies in patients. Anal. Chem. 87, 8394–8398. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.5b01728.
- Arugula, M.A., Simonian, A., 2014. Novel trends in affinity biosensors: current challenges and perspectives. Meas. Sci. Technol. 25. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0957-0233/25/3/032001.
- Bagalkot, V., Zhang, L., Levy-Nissenbaum, E., Jon, S., Kantoff, P.W., Langer, R., Farokhzad, O.C., 2007. Quantum dot-aptamer conjugates for synchronous cancer imaging, therapy, and sensing of drug delivery based on bi-fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Nano Lett. 7, 3065–3070. https://doi.org/10.1021/ nl071546n.
- Baliyan, A., Bhatia, P., Gupta, B.D., Sharma, E.K., Kumari, A., Gupta, R., 2013. Surface plasmon resonance based fiber optic sensor for the detection of triacylglycerides using gel entrapment technique. Sensors Actuators B Chem. 188, 917–922. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SNB.2013.07.090.
- Bard, A.J., 1988. Electrogenerated Chemical Lumniscence. Austin.
- Berens, C., Thain, A., Schroeder, R., 2001. A tetracycline-binding RNA aptamer. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 9, 2549–2556. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0896(01) 00063-3.
- Bidmanova, S., Chaloupkova, R., Damborsky, J., Prokop, Z., 2010. Development of an enzymatic fiber-optic biosensor for detection of halogenated hydrocarbons. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 398, 1891–1898. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-010-4083-z.
- Biesecker, G., Dihel, L., Enney, K., Bendele, R.A., 1999. Derivation of RNA aptamer inhibitors of human complement C5. Immunopharmacology 42, 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0162-3109(99)00020-X.
- Bock, L.C., Griffin, L.C., Latham, J.A., Vermaas, E.H., Toole, J.J., 1992. Selection of single-stranded DNA molecules that bind and inhibit human thrombin. Nature 355, 564–566.
- Brzozowska, E., Śmietana, M., Koba, M., Górska, S., Pawlik, K., Gamian, A., Bock, W.J., 2015. Recognition of bacterial lipopolysaccharide using bacteriophage-adhesincoated long-period gratings. Biosens. Bioelectron. 67, 93–99. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.BIOS.2014.07.027.
- Cella, L.N., Sanchez, P., Zhong, W., Myung, N.V., Chen, W., Mulchandani, A., 2010. Nano aptasensor for protective antigen toxin of anthrax. Anal. Chem. 82, 2042– 2047. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac902791q.
- Chang, H., Tang, L., Wang, Y., Jiang, J., Li, J., 2010. Graphene fluorescence resonance energy transfer aptasensor for the thrombin detection. Anal. Chem. 82, 2341– 2346. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac9025384.
- Cheng, A.K.H., Ge, B., Yu, H.-Z., 2007. Aptamer-based biosensors for label-free voltammetric detection of lysozyme. Anal. Chem. 79, 5158–5164. https://doi. org/10.1021/ac062214q.
- Choi, J.H., Chen, K.H., Strano, M.S., 2006. Aptamer-capped nanocrystal quantum dots: a new method for label-free protein detection. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128, 15584–15585. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja066506k.

Cooper, M.A., 2002. Optical biosensors in drug discovery. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 1, 515–528. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd838.

- Cunningham, F.E., Proctor, V.A., Goetsch, S.J., 1991. Egg-white lysozyme as a food preservative: an overview. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 47, 141–163. https://doi.org/ 10.1079/WPS19910015.
- Davis, K.A., Abrams, B., Lin, Y., Jayasena, S.D., 1996. Use of a high affinity DNA ligand in flow cytometry. Nucleic Acids Res. 24, 702–706.
- Du, Y., Chen, C., Zhou, M., Dong, S., Wang, E., 2011. Microfluidic electrochemical aptameric assay integrated on-chip: a potentially convenient sensing platform for the amplified and multiplex analysis of small molecules. Anal. Chem. 83, 1523–1529. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac101988n.
- Duan, N., Gong, W., Wang, Z., Wu, S., 2016. An aptasensor based on fluorescence resonance energy transfer for multiplexed pathogenic bacteria determination. Anal. Methods 8, 1390–1395. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5AY02608C.
- Ellington, A.D., Szostak, J.W., 1992. Selection in vitro of single-stranded DNA molecules that fold into specific ligand-binding structures. Nature 355, 850–852.
- Farid, S., Meshik, X., Choi, M., Mukherjee, S., Lan, Y., Parikh, D., Poduri, S., Baterdene, U., Huang, C.-E., Wang, Y.Y., Burke, P., Dutta, M., Stroscio, M.A., 2015. Detection of Interferon gamma using graphene and aptamer based FET-like electrochemical biosensor. Biosens. Bioelectron. 71, 294–299. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bios.2015.04.047.
- Feng, C., Dai, S., Wang, L., 2014. Optical aptasensors for quantitative detection of small biomolecules: a review. Biosens. Bioelectron. 59, 64–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bios.2014.03.014.
- Goldman, E.R., Pazirandeh, M.P., Mauro, J.M., King, K.D., Frey, J.C., Anderson, G.P., 2000. Phage-displayed peptides as biosensor reagents. J. Mol. Recognit. 13, 382–387. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-1352(200011/12)13:6<382::AID-JMR511>3.0.CO;2-W.
- Gronewold, T.M.A., Baumgartner, A., Weckmann, A., Knekties, J., Egler, C., 2009. Selection process generating peptide aptamers and analysis of their binding to the TiO2 surface of a surface acoustic wave sensor. Acta Biomater. 5, 794–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2008.09.014.
- Heyduk, E., Heyduk, T., 2005. Nucleic acid-based fluorescence sensors for detecting proteins. Anal. Chem. 77, 1147–1156. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac0487449.
- Huang, Y.F., Shangguan, D., Liu, H., Phillips, J.A., Zhang, X., Chen, Y., Tan, W., 2009. Molecular assembly of an aptamer-drug conjugate for targeted drug delivery to tumor cells. ChemBioChem 10, 862–868. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cbic.200800805.
- Ikanovic, M., Rudzinski, W.E., Bruno, J.G., Allman, A., Carrillo, M.P., Dwarakanath, S., Bhahdigadi, S., Rao, P., Kiel, J.L., Andrews, C.J., 2007. Fluorescence assay based on aptamer-quantum dot binding to bacillus thuringiensis spores. J. Fluoresc. 17, 193–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10895-007-0158-4.
- Ikebukuro, K., Kiyohara, C., Sode, K., 2005. Novel electrochemical sensor system for protein using the aptamers in sandwich manner. Biosens. Bioelectron. 20, 2168–2172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2004.09.002.
- Ikebukuro, K., Kiyohara, C., Sode, K., 2004. Electrochemical detection of protein using a double aptamer sandwich. Anal. Lett. 37, 2901–2909. https://doi.org/ 10.1081/AL-200035778.
- Jayasena, S.D., 1999. Aptamers: an emerging class of molecules that rival antibodies in diagnostics. Clin. Chem. 45. 1628 LP-1650.
- Jellinek, D., Green, L.S., Bell, C., Lynott, C.K., Gill, N., Vargeese, C., Kirschenheuter, G., McGee, D.P.C., Abesinghe, P., 1995. Potent 2'-amino-2'-deoxypyrimidine rna inhibitors of basic fibroblast growth factor. Biochemistry 34, 11363–11372. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00036a009.
- Jenison, R.D., Gill, S.C., Pardi, A., Polisky, B., 1994. High-resolution molecular discrimination by RNA. Science 263, 1425–1429.
- Jeong, H.-H., Erdene, N., Park, J.-H., Jeong, D.-H., Lee, H.-Y., Lee, S.-K., 2013. Real-time label-free immunoassay of interferon-gamma and prostate-specific antigen using a Fiber-Optic Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance sensor. Biosens. Bioelectron. 39, 346–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOS.2012.08.013.
- Jeong, S., Rhee Paeng, I., 2012. Sensitivity and selectivity on aptamer-based assay: the determination of tetracycline residue in bovine milk. Sci. World J. 2012, 159456. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/159456.
- Keefe, A.D., Pai, S., Ellington, A., 2010. Aptamers as therapeutics. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 9, 537–550.
- Kim, S.-E., Ahn, K.-Y., Park, J.-S., Kim, K.R., Lee, K.E., Han, S.-S., Lee, J., 2011. Fluorescent ferritin nanoparticles and application to the aptamer sensor. Anal. Chem. 83, 5834–5843. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac200657s.
- Kim, S.-E., Su, W., Cho, M., Lee, Y., Choe, W.-S., 2012. Harnessing aptamers for electrochemical detection of endotoxin. Anal. Biochem. 424, 12–20. 0.1016/j. ab.2012.02.016.
- Kudo, H., Sawai, M., Suzuki, Y., Wang, X., Gessei, T., Takahashi, D., Arakawa, T., Mitsubayashi, K., 2010. Fiber-optic bio-sniffer (biochemical gas sensor) for high-selective monitoring of ethanol vapor using 335 nm UV-LED. Sensors Actuators, B Chem. 147, 676–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2010.03.066.
- Actuators, B Chem. 147, 676–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2010.03.066. Kuliczkowski, W., Floyd, J., Malinin, A., Serebruany, V., 2010. Aptamers: the emerging class of future anticoagulation for vascular disease. Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther. 8, 503–507. https://doi.org/10.1586/erc.09.182.
- Lee, K.-A., Ahn, J.-Y., Lee, S.-H., Singh Sekhon, S., Kim, D.-G., Min, J., Kim, Y.-H., 2015. Aptamer-based sandwich assay and its clinical outlooks for detecting lipocalin-2 in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Sci. Rep. 5, 10897.
- Levy, M., Cater, S.F., Ellington, A.D., 2005. Quantum-dot aptamer beacons for the detection of proteins. ChemBioChem 6, 2163–2166. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cbic.200500218.

- Liu, J., Guo, S., Cinier, M., Shlyakhtenko, L.S., Shu, Y., Chen, C., Shen, G., Guo, P., 2011. Fabrication of stable and RNase-resistant RNA nanoparticles active in gearing the nanomotors for viral DNA packaging. ACS Nano 5, 237–246. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/nn1024658.
- Liu, J., Lu, Y., 2006. Fast colorimetric sensing of adenosine and cocaine based on a general sensor design involving aptamers and nanoparticles. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 45, 90–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200502589.
- Liu, Y., Matharu, Z., Howland, M.C., Revzin, A., Simonian, A.L., 2012. Affinity and enzyme-based biosensors: recent advances and emerging applications in cell analysis and point-of-care testing. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 404, 1181–1196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-012-6149-6.
- Liu, Y., Yan, K., Okoth, O.K., Zhang, J., 2015. A label-free photoelectrochemical aptasensor based on nitrogen-doped graphene quantum dots for chloramphenicol determination. Biosens. Bioelectron. 74, 1016–1021. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOS.2015.07.067.
- Long, F., Zhu, A., Zhou, X., Wang, H., Zhao, Z., Liu, L., Shi, H., 2014. Highly sensitive and selective optofluidics-based immunosensor for rapid assessment of Bisphenol A leaching risk. Biosens. Bioelectron. 55, 19–25. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.BIOS.2013.11.069.
- Lu, C.-H., Yang, H.-H., Zhu, C.-L., Chen, X., Chen, G.-N., 2009. A graphene platform for sensing biomolecules. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 48, 4785–4787. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/anie.200901479.
- Ma, C., Wang, W., Yang, Q., Shi, C., Cao, L., 2011. Cocaine detection via rolling circle amplification of short DNA strand separated by magnetic beads. Biosens. Bioelectron. 26, 3309–3312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2011.01.003.
- Mascini, M., Palchetti, I., Tombelli, S., 2012. Nucleic acid and peptide aptamers: fundamentals and bioanalytical aspects. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 51, 1316–1332. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201006630.
- Mir, M., Katakis, I., 2007. Aptamers as elements of bioelectronic devices. Mol. Biosyst. 3, 620–622. https://doi.org/10.1039/B708858B.
- Mukherjee, S., Meshik, X., Choi, M., Farid, S., Datta, D., Lan, Y., Poduri, S., Sarkar, K., Baterdene, U., Huang, C.E., Wang, Y.Y., Burke, P., Dutta, M., Stroscio, M.A., 2015. A graphene and aptamer based liquid gated FET-like electrochemical biosensor to detect adenosine triphosphate. IEEE Trans. Nanobioscience 14, 967–972. https://doi.org/10.1109/TNB.2015.2501364.
- Nutiu, R., Li, Y., 2004. Structure-switching signaling aptamers: transducing molecular recognition into fluorescence signaling. Chem. – A Eur J. 10, 1868– 1876. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.200305470.
- Nutiu, R., Li, Y., 2003. Structure-switching signaling aptamers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125, 4771–4778. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0289620.
- O'Sullivan, C.K., 2002. Aptasensors the future of biosensing? Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 372, 44–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-001-1189-3.
- Oliver, W.T., Wells, J.E., 2015. Lysozyme as an alternative to growth promoting antibiotics in swine production. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 6, 35. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s40104-015-0034-z.
- Pilehvar, S., Mehta, J., Dardenne, F., Robbens, J., Blust, R., De Wael, K., 2012. Aptasensing of chloramphenicol in the presence of its analogues: reaching the maximum residue limit. Anal. Chem. 84, 6753–6758. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ac3012522.
- Pollet, J., Delport, F., Janssen, K.P.F., Jans, K., Maes, G., Pfeiffer, H., Wevers, M., Lammertyn, J., 2009. Fiber optic SPR biosensing of DNA hybridization and DNAprotein interactions. Biosens. Bioelectron. 25, 864–869. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bios.2009.08.045.
- Polonschii, C., David, S., Tombelli, S., Mascini, M., Gheorghiu, M., 2010. A novel lowcost and easy to develop functionalization platform. Case study: aptamer-based detection of thrombin by surface plasmon resonance. Talanta 80, 2157–2164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2009.11.023.
- Ragland, S.A., Criss, A.K., 2017. From bacterial killing to immune modulation: Recent insights into the functions of lysozyme. PLOS Pathog. 13, e1006512.
- Rahim Ruslinda, A., Tanabe, K., Ibori, S., Wang, X., Kawarada, H., 2013. Effects of diamond-FET-based RNA aptamer sensing for detection of real sample of HIV-1 Tat protein. Biosens. Bioelectron. 40, 277–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bios.2012.07.048.
- Renganathan, B., Ganesan, A.R., 2015. Influence of annealing on optical fiber gas sensing properties of TiO2 nanomaterial. Int. J. ChemTech Res. 7, 878–883.
- Revenis, M.E., Kaliner, M.A., 1992. Lactoferrin and lysozyme deficiency in airway secretions: association with the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. J. Pediatr. 121, 262–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(05)81201-6.
- Ruckman, J., Green, L.S., Beeson, J., Waugh, S., Gillette, W.L., Henninger, D.D., Claesson-Welsh, L., Janjic, N., 1998. 2'-Fluoropyrimidine RNA-based Aptamers to the 165-Amino Acid Form of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF165): inhibition of receptor binding and vegf-induced vascular permeability through interactions requiring the exon 7-encoded domain. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 20556– 20567. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.32.20556.
- Savran, C.A., Knudsen, S.M., Ellington, A.D., Manalis, S.R., 2004. Micromechanical detection of proteins using aptamer-based receptor molecules. Anal. Chem. 76, 3194–3198. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac049859f.
- Schlecht, U., Malavé, A., Gronewold, T., Tewes, M., Löhndorf, M., 2006. Comparison of antibody and aptamer receptors for the specific detection of thrombin with a nanometer gap-sized impedance biosensor. Anal. Chim. Acta 573–574, 65–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2006.01.016.
- Sharon, E., Freeman, R., Tel-Vered, R., Willner, I., 2009. Impedimetric or ion-sensitive field-effect transistor (ISFET) aptasensors based on the self-assembly of Au nanoparticle-functionalized supramolecular aptamer nanostructures. Electroanalysis 21, 1291–1296. https://doi.org/10.1002/elan.200804565.

- Terazono, H., Anzai, Y., Soloviev, M., Yasuda, K., 2010. Labelling of live cells using fluorescent aptamers: binding reversal with DNA nucleases. J. Nanobiotechnology 8, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-3155-8-8.
- Toh, S.Y., Citartan, M., Gopinath, S.C.B., Tang, T.-H., 2015. Aptamers as a replacement for antibodies in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Biosens. Bioelectron. 64, 392–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2014.09.026.
- Tombelli, S., Minunni, M., Mascini, M., 2007. Aptamers-based assays for diagnostics, environmental and food analysis. Biomol. Eng. 24, 191–200. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bioeng.2007.03.003.
- Varghese, N., Mogera, U., Govindaraj, A., Das, A., Maiti, P.K., Sood, A.K., Rao, C.N.R., 2009. Binding of DNA nucleobases and nucleosides with graphene. ChemPhysChem 10, 206–210. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphc.200800459.
- Wang, C., Cui, X., Li, Y., Li, H., Huang, L., Bi, J., Luo, J., Ma, L.Q., Zhou, W., Cao, Y., Wang, B., Miao, F., 2016. A label-free and portable graphene FET aptasensor for children blood lead detection. Sci. Rep. 6, 21711.
- Wang, P., Yang, Y., Hong, H., Zhang, Y., Cai, W., Fang, D., 2011a. Aptamers as therapeutics in cardiovascular diseases. Curr. Med. Chem. https://doi.org/ 10.2174/092986711797189673.
- Wang, W., Wu, W.-Y., Zhong, X., Wang, W., Miao, Q., Zhu, J.-J., 2011b. Aptamerbased PDMS-gold nanoparticle composite as a platform for visual detection of biomolecules with silver enhancement. Biosens. Bioelectron. 26, 3110–3114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2010.10.034.
- Wu, T.C., Biswas, S., Dutta, M., Stroscio, M.A., 2011a. Quantum-dot-based aptamer beacon for the detection of potassium ions. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. https:// doi.org/10.1109/TNANO.2010.2091967.
- Wu, T.C., Biswas, S., Dutta, M., Stroscio, M.A., 2011b. Quantum-dot-based aptamer beacon for the detection of potassium ions. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 10, 991– 995. https://doi.org/10.1109/TNANO.2010.2091967.
- Xia, F., Zuo, X., Yang, R., Xiao, Y., Kang, D., Vallée-Bélisle, A., Gong, X., Yuen, J.D., Hsu, B.B.Y., Heeger, A.J., Plaxco, K.W., 2010. Colorimetric detection of DNA, small molecules, proteins, and ions using unmodified gold nanoparticles and conjugated polyelectrolytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 10837–10841. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1005632107.
- Xiao, Y., Lubin, A.A., Heeger, A.J., Plaxco, K.W., 2005. Label-free electronic detection of thrombin in blood serum by using an aptamer-based sensor. Angew. Chem. 117, 5592–5595. https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.200500989.
- Xu, D., Xu, D., Yu, X., Liu, Z., He, W., Ma, Z., 2005. Label-free electrochemical detection for aptamer-based array electrodes. Anal. Chem. 77, 5107–5113. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac050192m.
- Yamamoto, R., Kumar, P.K.R., 2000. Molecular beacon aptamer fluoresces in the presence of Tat protein of HIV-1. Genes Cells 5, 389–396. https://doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2000.00331.x.

- Ye, M., Chien, P.-J., Toma, K., Arakawa, T., Mitsubayashi, K., 2015. An acetone biosniffer (gas phase biosensor) enabling assessment of lipid metabolism from exhaled breath. Biosens. Bioelectron. 73, 208–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. BIOS.2015.04.023.
- Yeom, S.-H., Kang, B.-H., Kim, K.-J., Kang, S.-W., 2011. Nanostructures in biosensor-a review Landmark Ed Front. Biosci. https://doi.org/10.2741/3731.
- Yildirim, N., Long, F., Gao, C., He, M., Shi, H.-C., Gu, A.Z., 2012. Aptamer-based optical biosensor for rapid and sensitive detection of 17β-estradiol in water samples. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 3288–3294. https://doi.org/10.1021/es203624w.
- Zelada-Guillén, G.A., Riu, J., Düzgün, A., Rius, F.X., 2009. Immediate detection of living bacteria at ultralow concentrations using a carbon nanotube based potentiometric aptasensor. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 48, 7334–7337. https://doi. org/10.1002/anie.200902090.
- Zhang, C., Lv, X., Han, X., Man, Y., Saeed, Y., Qing, H., Deng, Y., 2015. Whole-cell based aptamer selection for selective capture of microorganisms using microfluidic devices. Anal. Methods 7, 6339–6345. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C5AY01016K.
- Zhang, H., Jiang, B., Xiang, Y., Zhang, Y., Chai, Y., Yuan, R., 2011a. Aptamer/quantum dot-based simultaneous electrochemical detection of multiple small molecules. Anal. Chim. Acta 688, 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2010.12.017.
- Zhang, J., Zhang, B., Wu, Y., Jia, S., Fan, T., Zhang, Z., Zhang, C., 2010. Fast determination of the tetracyclines in milk samples by the aptamer biosensor. Analyst 135, 2706–2710. https://doi.org/10.1039/C0AN00237B.
- Zhang, X., Li, S., Jin, X., Zhang, S., 2011b. A new photoelectrochemical aptasensor for the detection of thrombin based on functionalized graphene and CdSe nanoparticles multilayers. Chem. Commun. 47, 4929–4931. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c1cc10830a.
- Zhao, W.-W., Xu, J.-J., Chen, H.-Y., 2014. Photoelectrochemical DNA Biosensors. Chem. Rev. 114, 7421–7441. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr500100j.
- Zheng, H.Y., Alsager, O.A., Wood, C.S., Hodgkiss, J.M., Plank, N.O.V., 2015. Carbon nanotube field effect transistor aptasensors for estrogen detection in liquids. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, Nanotechnol. Microelectron. Mater. Process. Meas. Phenom. 33, 06F904. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.4935246.
- Zhu, C., Liu, J., Ling, Y., Yang, H., Liu, Z., Zheng, R., Qin, L., Hu, Z., 2012. Evaluation of the clinical value of ELISA based on MPT64 antibody aptamer for serological diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. BMC Infect. Dis. 12, 96. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2334-12-96.
- Zibaii, M.I., Kazemi, A., Latifi, H., Azar, M.K., Hosseini, S.M., Ghezelaiagh, M.H., 2010. Measuring bacterial growth by refractive index tapered fiber optic biosensor. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol. 101, 313–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jphotobiol.2010.07.017.